STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

AUG 26 2014

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to York County

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

CHRISTOPHER ROBINSON,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014-000152

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Did the PCR court err in not finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to move for a suppression hearing to suppress the crack cocaine which was found on the sidewalk near Petitioner Robinson in a high crime area?

STATEMENT

In August 2007, the York County Grand Jury indicted Christopher A. Robinson on the charges of possession with intent to distribute (PWID) crack cocaine and possession of marijuana. On October 4, 2007, Robinson proceeded to trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. Robinson was represented by Melissa Inzerillo, and the state was represented by E. Ashley Anderson and E.B. Springs, IV. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on both charges. Judge Hayes sentenced Robinson to twenty years for the PWID crack cocaine third offense, and one year for the possession of marijuana second offense to run concurrent to the PWID sentence. App. 227, ll. 13 – 18. Robinson’s attorney filed a notice of appeal, and the appeal was perfected by the Division of Appellate Defense. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Robinson’s convictions and sentences on June 23, 2010. State v. Robinson, 2010-UP-324 (Ct. App. filed June 23, 2010).

On May 16, 2011, Robinson filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). The state filed a return on September 15, 2011. An evidentiary hearing was held on October 12, 2012 before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson. Robinson was represented by Eleanor Cleary, and the state was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson. App. 242. On February 14, 2013, Judge Dickson issued an order denying Robinson’s PCR application and dismissing it with prejudice. App. 293- App. 305. Robinson’s attorney filed an appeal. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

The PCR court erred in not finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to move for a suppression hearing to suppress the crack cocaine which was found on the sidewalk near Petitioner Robinson in a high crime area.

At Robinson's jury trial, Officer Anthony Breeden testified that on June 1, 2007, he was supervisor with the street crimes unit in Rock Hill. They were patrolling the Market Place Apartments due to the numerous complaints received about drugs or other crimes such as assaults. They were responding to a group of "subjects" standing around a gold Cadillac in the Market Place area that night. App.49, ll. 10 – App. 50, ll. 25; App. 56, ll. 1 – 23.

Officer Breeden's testimony was that they arrived at Market Place about 9 or 9:30 at night. It was "actually dark" but there were two lights in the parking lot on the other side but it was "well lit enough" that you could see people and things on the sidewalk. App. 51, ll. 1 – 14; App. 53, ll. 17 – 25.

As they pulled in, Officer Breeden noticed one person immediately walked away from the group around the Cadillac, and proceeded down a sidewalk parallel to the building. App. 53, ll. 6-16. Officer Breeden called to the person to stop and come back which the person did. Officer Chavis had gotten out of his car at the same time, and was following behind them. When the person stopped and turned around to come back to Officer Breeden, Officer Chavis continued to walk past the person because, he stated, something was dropped. Officer Chavis told Officer Breeden that he found drugs on the sidewalk. Officer Breeden then arrested the person and began a search incident to arrest. He identified Robinson in the courtroom as the person he arrested. App. 54, ll. 1 – App. 55, ll. 7.

Officer Michael Chavis was working with the street crime suit on June 1, 2007, and went with Officer Breeden to the Market Place Apartments due to the complaints. App. 77, ll. 11 – App. 79, ll. 2. When they saw the person walk away from the group, Officer Chavis jumped from the unmarked police car, and followed the person down the sidewalk. Officer Chavis was using his flashlight and illuminated the person. He then told the person to hold on as Officer Chavis needed to talk to him. Officer Chavis then saw the person with his right hand, make “a tossing motion back behind him, and Officer Chavis saw what appeared to be a white bag fall to the sidewalk. He yelled to Officer Breeden that something was dropped so Officer Breeden called the person to come to him. When Officer Chavis retrieved the bag, it was a clear plastic baggy containing a white substance that Officer Chavis believed to be crack. When he told Officer Breeden it was crack, Officer Breeden then arrested the person and handcuffed him. Officer Chavis said he was only about ten feet behind the person. He identified Robinson in the court room as the person. App. 78, ll.16 – App.81, ll. 16.

The baggy was checked for fingerprints but no fingerprints were found. App. 190, ll. 4 – 10. When Officer Breeden arrested Robinson, he then searched his person incident to arrest. He found marijuana in Robinson’s pocket. Robinson then told Officer Breeden that the marijuana was his but the crack was not. App. 54, ll. 21 – App. 55, ll. 14.

After the verdict and at sentencing, Robinson told the trial court that he had a problem with marijuana and the marijuana was his. However, he denied any possession of the crack. App. 225, ll. 3 – App. 227, ll. 12.

At his PCR hearing, Robinson’s attorney told the court that Robinson’s claim was that his trial attorney was ineffective for not asking for a suppression hearing for the crack. App. 245, ll. 1 – App. 247, ll. 8. Robinson then testified that he told his attorney what happened when he was

arrested. He had just arrived at Market Place and had gone down the alley as he was in the process of leaving. The police officers arrived, and one stopped him for questioning. Robinson gave the officer his name and the officer ran a check on him. When dispatch revealed that Robinson had no warrants against him, the officer said Robinson he was free to go. As he was leaving, Robinson was approached by a second officer who detained him. One officer said he had crack and took Robinson to the car and handcuffed him. Then the officer searched Robinson and found the marijuana. Robinson told the officers that he had the marijuana but the crack was not his. App. 250, ll. 5 – App. 253, ll. 14.

Robinson wanted to testify to tell his side of the story, but his attorney advised that if he did, his juvenile record for trafficking drugs would come in. App. 254, ll. 19 – App. 255, ll. 5.

Robinson's trial counsel testified that the trial court decided that the juvenile convictions could not be used to impeach Robinson. App. 260, ll. 5 – 25; App. 264, ll. 2 – 5. She did not ask for a suppression hearing because Robinson never told her the version he just told the PCR court. He gave her two conflicting statements. One, he said the crack was found under the car. Then he later indicated that he could not remember where the drugs were found because he never saw them. Robinson adamantly claimed that he did not throw the crack, and she honestly did not feel that he had thrown it. App. 265, ll. 16 – App. 267, ll. 3.

On cross examination, trial counsel admitted that most drug cases have a suppression hearing if there was a basis. She felt there was not a basis to suppress. However, she also admitted that a suppression hearing could be helpful in "pinning down" the officers' testimony, and could go up on appeal. App. 283, ll. 16 – App. 286, ll. 2.

The PCR judge ruled that he found the testimony of Robinson concerning ineffective assistance of Robinson's trial counsel to not be credible while finding the testimony of trial counsel

to be very credible. App. 298. The court ruled that trial counsel was not ineffective for not requesting a suppression hearing because if she did not have a good faith basis to do so as she believed, then her requesting a hearing could have been construed as attempting to commit a fraud on the court. The judge also wrote that Robinson provided no evidence that the crack would have been excluded if there had been a suppression hearing. The order provided that Robinson failed to prove ineffective assistance of counsel and failed to prove any prejudice. App. 304.

Robinson's attorney timely filed a Motion to Alter/Amend the Judgment Pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP. App. 306. Counsel argued that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move before trial to suppress the crack cocaine as Robinson was prejudiced by counsel's ineffectiveness. App. 306.

PCR counsel argued that the entire basis for the case was the credibility of the police officer's testimony and his version of the facts. The 59(e) motion noted that trial counsel did have a good faith basis for a suppression hearing because Robinson was unlawfully detained by the officers because a person cannot be detained unless the officer has a reasonable suspicion that the person is involved in criminal activity. The police did not provide reasonable suspicion in this case. App. 308. Absent reasonable suspicion or probable cause. A person can lawfully ignore the officer. Counsel cited Illinois v. Wardlaw, 529 U.S. 119 (2000). App. 309.

Counsel argued that it was a high crime area and the officer said only that he saw Robinson throw "something." Then the officer found a baggy of crack on the sidewalk in this high crime area. App. 309. Trial counsel said she did not file the motion because Robinson gave conflicting statements to her. These conflicting statements would be irrelevant since Robinson did not have to testify and chose not to. App. 308.

On January 13, 2014, Judge Dickson filed an order denying Robinson's Rule 59(e) Motion to Alter. App. 315 – App. 316.

Where ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052 (1984).

A two pronged test is used in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and fell below reasonable professional norms; and there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result would have been different. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 117-118, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 480 S.E.2d 733 (1997).

In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), the United States Supreme Court ruled that whenever evidence is introduced that was allegedly obtained by conduct violative of the defendant's constitutional rights, the defendant is entitled to have the trial judge conduct an evidentiary hearing outside the presence of the jury at this threshold point to establish the circumstances under which it was seized. The South Carolina Supreme Court in State v. Patton, 322 S.C. 408, 472 S.E.2d 245 (1996), cited this standard from Jackson v. Denno, *supra*, to apply equally to other evidence as in Patton.

In State v. Patton, *supra*, the Court modified its previous ruling in State v. Blassingame, 271 S.C. 44, 244 S.E.2d 528 (1978) which held that a defendant did not need specific grounds as to why a suppression hearing was necessary. In Patton, the court ruled that the trial court in its discretion, could grant a suppression hearing if the defendant's grounds are sufficiently definite, detailed, and nonconjectural to enable the court to conclude that contested issues of fact going to the validity of the search are in question.

Trial counsel was ineffective for not requesting a suppression hearing to suppress the crack cocaine. The officers needed to present evidence of reasonable suspicion that Robinson was involved in criminal activity. As the United States Supreme Court held in Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119 (2000), a person's presence in an area of expected criminal activity, standing alone, is not enough to support reasonable suspicion that the person is committing a crime. Robinson did not run from the police but was simply walking away down the sidewalk.

Trial attorney used the fact that Robinson gave her conflicting stories as a reason not to request a suppression hearing. This is totally irrelevant to holding a suppression hearing because Robinson did not have to testify at the hearing.

This was a high crime area. Anyone could have dropped the baggy which did not have Robinson's fingerprints. Crack cocaine was not found on Robinson's person-only the marijuana. Robinson did not give a confession of any kind to the crack cocaine. Although the officers said the area was well lit, the two lights for the parking area were on the other side according to Officer Breeden. Officer Chavis still had to use a flashlight which cast doubt on what he actually saw thrown.

The PCR court should have trial counsel ineffective for not requesting a suppression hearing and making the effort to suppress the crack. Robinson was prejudiced because the sentence for a third offense PWID crack was a minimum of fifteen to thirty years.