STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN - 6 2015

CERTIORARI TO YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. Supreme Court

The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2014-000152

Christopher Robinson.....Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina.....Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. RUTLEDGE JOHNSON
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar # 78871

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the PCR court properly find Counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where Counsel articulated that she did not request a suppression hearing based on her client's own statements and the facts of the case and where Petitioner has failed to prove any resulting prejudice?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher Robinson, (“Petitioner”), was indicted at the August 2007 term of the York County Court of General Sessions for Possession of Cocaine Base with intent to distribute (PWID)(2007-GS-46-2616) and Possession of Marijuana (2007-GS-46-2618). He was represented by Melissa Inzerillo, Esq. On October 4, 2007, the Applicant underwent trial by jury, pursuant to which he was convicted of PWID crack cocaine, 3rd offense and Possession of Marijuana, 2nd offense. The Honorable John C. Hayes, III sentenced Applicant to confinement for twenty (20) years for PWID crack cocaine, 3rd offense and one (1) year, concurrent, for the Possession of Marijuana, 2nd offense.

A Notice of Appeal was filed on the Applicant’s behalf and an appeal perfected. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction and sentence. State v. Robinson, 2010-UP-324 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 23, 2010). The Remittitur was issued on July 7, 2010.

Petitioner subsequently filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on May 16, 2011. Petitioner claimed, *inter alia*, ineffective assistance of trial counsel. Respondent made its Return on September 15, 2011. On October 12, 2012, an evidentiary hearing was held at the Moss Justice Center in York, SC. Petitioner was present and represented by Eleanor Cleary, Esquire. Respondent was represented by J. Rutledge Johnson of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office. On February 14, 2013, the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson denied and dismissed Petitioner’s application with prejudice by written Order. Petitioner filed a Rule 59(e) SCRCF motion on March 18, 2013. Respondent filed a Return to this motion on March 27, 2013. Judge Dickson denied the 59(e) motion on December 30, 2013. Petitioner subsequently filed a Petition for Writ of Certiorari on August 26, 2014. This Return to the Petition for Writ of Certiorari follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for reviewing a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989). In a PCR proceeding, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I. The PCR court properly found Counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel where Counsel articulated that she did not request a suppression hearing based on her client's own statements and the facts of the case and where Petitioner has failed to prove any resulting prejudice

Petitioner asserts the "PCR court erred in not finding trial counsel ineffective for failing to move for a suppression hearing to suppress the crack cocaine which was found on the sidewalk near Petitioner Robinson in a high crime area." This argument is without merit.

In a PCR action, the Petitioner bears the burden of proving the allegations in his application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). Where the application alleges ineffective assistance of counsel as a ground for relief, the Petitioner must prove that "counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result." Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2064 (1984); Butler, *supra*.

The proper measure of performance is whether the attorney provided representation within the range of competence required in criminal cases. The courts presume that counsel rendered adequate assistance and made all significant decisions in the exercise of reasonable professional judgment. Strickland, *supra*. The Petitioner must overcome this presumption in order to receive relief. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

The reviewing court applies a two-pronged test in evaluating allegations of ineffective assistance of plea counsel. First, the Petitioner must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, the court measures an attorney's performance by its "reasonableness under professional norms." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625, *citing* Strickland. Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the Petitioner such that "there is a

reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

Judicial scrutiny of counsel's performance must be highly deferential. It is all too tempting for a defendant to second-guess counsel's assistance after conviction or adverse sentence, and it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was unreasonable. A fair assessment of attorney performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Because of the difficulties inherent in making the evaluation, a court must indulge a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance.

Strickland at 689, 104 S. Ct. at 2065.

The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. In particular, what investigation decisions are reasonable depends critically on such information. For example, when the facts that support a certain potential line of defense are generally known to counsel because of what the defendant has said, the need for further investigation may be considerably diminished or eliminated altogether. And when a defendant has given counsel reason to believe that pursuing certain investigations would be fruitless or even harmful, counsel's failure to pursue those investigations may not later be challenged as unreasonable.

Strickland at 691, 104 S. Ct. at 2066.

A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel based on a trial attorney's failure to make a motion or objection must demonstrate not only the absence of a tactical reason for the omission, but also that the motion or objection would have been meritorious if the defendant is to bear his burden of demonstrating that it is reasonably probable that absent the omission a determination more favorable to defendant would have resulted.

People v. Mattson, 50 Cal. 3d 826, 876, 789 P.2d 983, 1017 (1990)

During the trial, Sergeant Breeden testified he, along with Officer Chavis, were dispatched in an unmarked police car to a target area from which law enforcement was receiving complaints of criminal activity. (App. p. 50 lines 8-15). There they found a group of subjects standing around in the area. (App. p. 50 lines 15-20). Upon parking his vehicle behind a car the

group was standing beside and approaching the group, Sergeant Breeden observed Petitioner walking away and gave instruction for him to stop and walk back towards Officer Breeden; which Petitioner did. (App. p. 54 lines 10-19). Sergeant Breeden then testified Officer Chavis walked past Petitioner stating he (Officer Chavis) saw something being dropped on the sidewalk and then stated he found drugs on the sidewalk. (App. p. 54 lines 17-21). On cross-examination, Sergeant Breeden again testified that Petitioner voluntarily turned around and walked back to Sergeant Breeden when he requested. There was no foot pursuit. (App. p. 68 lines 9-17). Sergeant Breeden also confirmed that he only arrested Petitioner after Officer Chavis informed him that Officer Chavis saw Petitioner drop the bag of crack cocaine onto the sidewalk (App. p. 69 lines 2-5; 20-25).

Additionally, Officer Chavis testified that when he and Officer Breeden approached the group of subjects standing around the car, Petitioner began to walk away up the sidewalk. (App. p. 79 lines 10-20). Officer Chavis stated he illuminated Petitioner with his flashlight and said “hold on a minute, sir, I need to talk to you.” (App. p. 79 lines 23-25). Officer Chavis then testified:

At that point I saw [Petitioner] put his right hand, make a tossing motion back behind him and I saw what appeared to be a white bag fall to the sidewalk. I immediately yelled to my supervisor who was Sergeant Breeden that [Petitioner] just dropped something on the sidewalk...when I picked it up it was a clear plastic baggy containing white substance that I believed to be crack cocaine. I then shouted to my supervisor Sergeant Breeden I've got crack cocaine here that [Petitioner] dropped. At that point Sergeant Breeden placed [Petitioner] in handcuffs and makes the arrest.

(App. p. 79 line 25- p. 80 line 13).

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner testified he was at the top of an alley when officers approached in an unmarked police car. (App. p. 250 lines 10-19). He then stated the first officer asked for his name, checked to see if Petitioner had any outstanding warrants and told Petitioner

he was free to leave. (App. p. 251 lines 1-9). Petitioner testified another officer approached him and detained him. (App. p. 251 line 10- p. 252 line 1). Petitioner also stated he heard the second officer say that the officer found crack cocaine. (App. p. 252 line 23). That officer then placed Petitioner in handcuffs, conducted a pat-down and found marijuana on Petitioner's person. (App. p. 252 line 24- p. 253 line 4). Petitioner then testified he was not detained until the second officer stated he found crack cocaine. (App. p. 253 lines 8-9).

Counsel first testified concerning the suppression motion issue that Petitioner's version of facts as presented at the PCR hearing were not presented to Counsel in her preparation for trial; in essence this was the first time Counsel had heard these details. (App. p. 265 lines 19-21). Counsel then testified that Petitioner told her two different stories concerning the location of the crack cocaine. (App. p. 265 line 22- p. 266 line 3). Counsel also stated part of her trial strategy was to show that Petitioner never threw any crack on the ground or ever had possession of the crack. (App. p. 266 lines 14-23).

The PCR court held Counsel's testimony was very credible while finding Petitioner's testimony not credible. (App. p. 298). See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 518 S.E.2d 265 (1999) (Great deference is given to the PCR court's findings on matters of credibility, as the reviewing court lacks the opportunity to observe witnesses.)

In its Order of Dismissal, the PCR court also held:

This Court finds Counsel's failure to request a suppression hearing was not ineffective assistance of counsel. Counsel testified she did not have a good faith basis for a suppression motion due to the Applicant's inconsistent statements during the course of this case. For Counsel to advance an argument with no factual or legal basis could be construed as attempting to commit a fraud upon the court. Further, the Applicant provided no evidence that had Counsel moved for a suppression hearing, the crack cocaine would have been excluded. This Court finds the Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving Counsel was ineffective and also failed to prove any resulting prejudice. Accordingly, this allegation is denied.

(App. p. 304).

The PCR court properly found Counsel rendered effective assistance of counsel in this case. Officer Chavis testified he personally witnessed Petitioner throw a bag of crack cocaine onto the sidewalk when he asked Petitioner to turn around and speak to him. Contrary to Petitioner's claim that anyone could have thrown the crack the crack cocaine on the ground, there is eye-witness testimony that directly refutes that claim. Additionally, Counsel testified Petitioner gave her two wavering factual accounts of the local of the crack cocaine. The first time Counsel heard the facts as recited by Petitioner at the PCR hearing was at the hearing itself. Under Strickland, Counsel was actions were rightly guided by the information provided to her by Petitioner in this case. Counsel's decision not to pursue a suppression motion may not now be challenged as unreasonable. See Strickland at 691. As Counsel testified she had no legal basis to challenge the drugs, a suppression motion was unnecessary in this case. Counsel further testified she based her assessment of whether or not she had a good faith basis to challenge the admission of the drugs on her experience as a criminal defense attorney and on the facts of the case, themselves. As such, Counsel cannot be said to be ineffective.

Furthermore, as the PCR court correctly concluded, Petitioner failed to prove any resulting prejudice from Counsel's failure to request a suppression motion. Petitioner presented no testimony, such as eye-witness or expert testimony, to show that law enforcement's conduct or any search was illegal. Moreover, Petitioner has provided no legal basis on which the drug evidence would have been suppressed; thus, he has failed to prove a suppression motion would have been meritorious. Therefore, he has failed to meet his burden of proving any resulting prejudice from Counsel's alleged ineffective assistance. Accordingly, there is clear "evidence of

probative value” to sustain the PCR judge's findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 386 S.E.2d 624 (1989).

CONCLUSION